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PROLOGUE



November 21, 2014
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“But, given the long list of supervisory failures at the New York Fed, both before and during your tenure as president, would you say that the New York Fed has its own cultural problems?”1 asked Senator Elizabeth Warren, facing the audience from her seat behind the raised semicircular podium.


“Well, first, I would not accept the premise that there has been a long list of failures by the New York Fed since my tenure,” replied New York Fed president Bill Dudley, clearly ruffled by the question. A few feet in front of him a TV camera, encased in a wooden box, captured his sweating face.


“I have to stop you there, Mr. Dudley. That is part of why we called this hearing, is the evidence of the failures at the Fed. So are you saying that these are not true? I mean, are you denying the facts that have already been reported and established about this?” Warren retorted.


“Well, first of all, I am not clear that there are facts.” Dudley answered.


I gripped the pen as tightly as I could, struggling to keep my composure.


Earlier that morning I had been the first to line up outside the door of Room SD-538 at the Dirksen Senate Office Building in Washington, DC. Nothing, I had promised myself, was going to prevent me from sitting in that room and witnessing Dudley’s testimony.


As soon as he had taken his seat, photographers had moved into the empty space between the testimony table and the Senate podium. The clicking of their cameras quickly drowned out all other noise in the room. Dudley’s sizeable entourage occupied most of the reserved seats directly behind him, then open seating began in the third row.2 I had carefully chosen a seat there, with a clear view of Dudley’s back and the right side of his face.


As the hearing began, Senator Sherrod Brown had wasted no time laying down the stakes in his opening statement: “With all of its resources and its new authority, is the Federal Reserve up to the task of regulating financial institutions that are so large and complex? That is the question. Or, are these Wall Street banks simply too big to regulate?”


I watched Dudley’s trembling hand reach for a glass of water. Good, I thought. I bit back a smile and did my best to keep a straight face. I have never been good at keeping a poker face—but on this day I did my best to give nothing away. I must admit I was happy. He deserves to be nervous. Not a noble sentiment but, after all I had been through the past three years, a human one.


“We are here today because of issues raised by Carmen Segarra. She has done—” Brown stopped reading from his prepared statement, lifted his head, and looked briefly in my direction, “and she is here today, welcome—and she has done a public service in bringing them to light.”


At the sound of my name my heart skipped a beat. Time slowed down, and I felt all eyes in the room turn toward me. I was not nervous—quite the contrary. I had deliberately worn a red jacket, the better to stand out in that sea of men wearing dark suits. I sat just a little bit straighter and kept my eyes glued on Dudley. He shifted uncomfortably in his seat.


“The Federal Reserve is tasked with supervising the nation’s largest banks and is our first line of defense against another financial crisis. Yet we have seen time and again the Fed has failed to strike the proper balance when regulating these large firms. The most obvious example is the 2008 financial crisis, from which we are still recovering. Their inability to properly regulate the banks led to an economic catastrophe,” intoned Senator Joe Manchin.


Coughing and the clicking of cameras occasionally interrupted Senator Manchin’s words. Dudley sat silently at the witness table, hands crossed. To his left and right two wooden tables were packed with journalists, furiously tapping away on their laptops.


“As Senator Warren and I have said, the stakes could not be higher. With the proper supervision,” Manchin’s voice rose slightly and his right hand gestured in the air, “we might have averted the 2008 crisis that cost so many people on Main Street in America their jobs and wiped out over a decade of economic success.”


Then, as Senator Warren began her opening statement, Dudley again shifted uncomfortably and, this time, clenched his hands. “We need bank regulators who work to protect the American people, not the profits of giant banks, and that is what this hearing is about today,” she said.


As Dudley began his prepared testimony, I wondered how he would respond to New York Fed officials’ allegations of misconduct. A small part of me still could not believe what I had witnessed, recorded, and brought to light. It all felt like a lifetime ago.
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THREE YEARS BEFORE this hearing the New York Fed had hired me as an expert in legal and compliance to help supervise some of the nation’s largest banks. I took the job thinking I would be protecting the safety and soundness of the financial system on behalf of the taxpayers who paid my salary.


Before joining the New York Fed I had been a lawyer deep in the trenches of some of the world’s biggest banks: MBNA America Bank (now part of Bank of America), Citigroup, Société Générale. Many other large banks—JPMorgan Chase, UBS, Barclays, Morgan Stanley, Merrill Lynch, Goldman Sachs—have interviewed and courted me countless times. I had been sent to many places around the globe, responsible for implementing regulations whose impact went far beyond American shores. I worked with many different kinds of people—competent, high strung, difficult, lazy, friendly, passive-aggressive, clueless, arrogant, forgetful, and too smart for their own good—discouraging many from engaging in foolish and risky behavior and even managing to stop a few from breaking the law.


But nothing I had seen during my decade of legal work had prepared me for what I witnessed in just a few short months at the New York Fed.


In those months I discovered a disorienting world full of hidden clues, where people said one thing but meant another. Beneath the public face of the Fed laid a web of incompetence, corruption, rampant mismanagement, secrets, and lies. In the “fake work” culture of the Fed, where supervision was a job title, not a job, the most important thing was to control the process to serve the ultimate master. The New York Fed was not simply failing to stop the banks; it was actually enabling their bad behavior.
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CHAPTER 1



Special Team. Different Training
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New York City was busy cleaning up from a nor’easter that claimed countless trees and threatened to derail Halloween as I zigzagged my way through downtown Manhattan. Dodging fallen trees and harried commuters as best I could, I hurried to my first day on the new job with a sense of positive expectation. On the corner of Broadway and Liberty Street, while waiting for the light to turn, I looked over at the World Trade Center area construction site and Zuccotti Park. Occupy Wall Street protesters who had braved the storm huddled in the rectangular enclosure, their signs and tents poking out of the ground. Some drank coffee; others chatted—the roughness of the night etched on their faces. I held back a smile as I pondered how incongruous it was.


I was headed to the New York Fed to help fix the bank supervision problems that motivated the protests in the first place.


After filling out some paperwork, I headed to Marylou’s office, one of my new supervisors. Marylou was tall, blond, blue-eyed, and polite almost to a fault. Her slender frame neatly tucked into her chair, she pivoted ever so slightly to the left as she welcomed us into her office. The new hires crowded in between the stacks of papers scattered about, like mushrooms sprouting out of a forest floor.


After some introductions, Marylou started the meeting by announcing that the New York Fed had changed its supervisory structure that summer. Indeed, she and Connor O’Sullivan, our boss, had mentioned this new supervision structure during my interview. Now that Marylou brought it up, it seemed like we were finally getting into the basics.


She explained that she and Riley Murphy were co–team leaders of the legal and compliance risk team. Their job would be to guide me and the other new legal and compliance risk examiners through the onboarding process and to be our boss for day-to-day administrative matters. They both reported to Connor, and Connor in turn reported to Sarah Dahlgren, who was in charge of the entire New York Fed supervision team. Sarah in turn reported to Bill Dudley, the president of the New York Fed. We would each be assigned to supervise one of the too-big-to-fail banks.


She did not tell us which one each of us would be assigned to supervise.


Instead, she jumped straight into describing one of the features of the new supervision structure—the creation of a new group known as “relationship managers.” These relationship management teams were in charge of managing the relationship between the New York Fed and an assigned supervised bank. The relationship managers were, according to Marylou, no longer in charge of examining the supervised bank; rather, their new job was to better understand the division or function they had been assigned to in order to assist us, the risk specialists, in our examination work—should we need their help. Thus, actual supervision and examination work now fell to us, the risk specialists, experts who were recruited and assigned to different areas—market risk, credit risk, audit risk, operational risk, and legal and compliance risk. A few of these experts were prior bank examiners, but most were new to the New York Fed.


Just like the risk specialists, the relationship managers were divided into teams—one for each of the too-big-to-fail banks. Technically, the relationship managers assigned to cover a specific bank division were also referred to as business line specialists, and the relationship managers assigned to cover a function, such as corporate functions, were referred to as corporate functions specialists. Each relationship management team was led by a senior supervisory officer (SSO) and his or her deputy. The New York Fed had chosen to staff the new relationship management teams with “old bank examiners”—employees who had been working at the New York Fed for a long time, most since well before the 2008 financial crisis.


As I listened, I thought back to my interviews, where Connor, Marylou, and Riley had explained they were looking to upgrade the New York Fed’s personnel. They had alluded to the phasing out of old bank examiners but had not explained how it would be done. This convoluted and confusing structure had more to do with giving the old bank examiners the appearance of a job so as to improve their prospects of getting hired out of the New York Fed and less to do with how supervision would work moving forward under the new structure.


This all sounded more political than practical to me, and it promised an extra layer of challenges: we were tasked with working alongside the people who used to do our jobs. And they did not yet seem to have a specific and well-defined role to play. Implementing a new supervisory structure while keeping the previous supervisors in a hastily defined relationship was one of the signs of the labyrinthine qualities of my new environment. Oh well, I thought. No one said the job would be easy. It seemed I would have to do some in-the-field detective work to figure out the nuances and realities of the balance of power.


You see, when it comes to the New York Fed, you have to be there to truly begin to understand the redundancies, the ambiguities, the meaningful looks, the silences.


As Marylou ended the meeting, many things were still up in the air. First and foremost: no word yet about which bank I would be assigned to supervise.


As I thought this through, Marylou walked us to Connor’s office, the big boss. As I walked out of her office I saw the third person who had interviewed me and another of our team members: Riley. I flashed a smile. With pursed lips and an expressionless face he looked back and nodded. For some reason Riley’s poker face seemed slightly out of place. I archived it: it was time to meet Connor and hopefully learn the rest of the details about my new job.


Connor O’Sullivan was the new head of the legal and compliance risk supervision team within the Financial Institutions Supervision Group (FISG). This blue-eyed Harvard Law School lawyer had joined the New York Fed in 2005 as an attorney in the legal department, focused on bank regulatory and supervision matters. Prior to leaving the New York Fed’s legal division and assuming the leadership of the legal and compliance risk supervision team, he had been providing legal support to the supervision team assigned to cover Goldman Sachs.


Connor’s portly frame stood stick straight as he greeted us. Because he was busy, this meeting was just a quick meet-and-greet: no more information forthcoming. I patiently made my way back to the secretary’s desk to get the details on my cubicle location and computer.


Suddenly Riley appeared out of nowhere and stopped me. “Do you know which bank you have been assigned to?” he asked.


“No,” I replied, excited to finally find out.


His blue eyes widened, his attention fixed on me so intently that my guard instinctively went up. “You are going to Goldman,” he said.


Uh-oh, I thought, feeling the hairs standing on the back of my neck. I did the best I could to not react. Easier said than done, though. I’m one of those people who finds it hard to put up—and keep—a poker face.


Goldman Sachs. The Ted Cruz of the banking world—if you are into politics.


Goldman had a reputation in the industry of having weak legal and compliance departments, among many other issues. I had spent a lot of time in my career cleaning up bad, complicated messes at bigger, more complex, and better diversified banks than Goldman, so I guess they thought it would be a good fit.


But from the start there was something amiss. Goldman is about as high profile a bank as it got. My position would be the type of plum job typically reserved for more connected alpha males. If this was a plum job that led to promotions, no one at the New York Fed would give it to a woman, much less a minority like me. Another mystery to be solved.


“You are going to be replacing Johnathon Kim. His office is down the hall—you should talk to him,” Riley continued, his cold eyes never once leaving my face. Then he added, “You are very lucky. That is our very best supervisory team.”


As I approached his office, I could see Johnathon sitting on his desk, looking at some documents. In those few seconds as I approached, it wasn’t clear whether he was reading the documents or just looking at the paper in a way that made him seem like someone carrying a burden. Or was it a sense of regret? The second he saw me, though, he immediately looked up and smiled, a tinge of relief on his face. I was there to replace him, and from his vantage point, that was a good thing.


His office was very similar to all other offices on that floor, with a navy-blue carpet contrasting the dark-brown wall-unit wood office furniture so commonplace in American banks. The only object in his office that truly distinguished it from anybody else’s was the picture of his wife and children.


Conspicuously placing photos of your smiling family members for all to see is a cultural imperative in an American banking office. What was remarkable about this photo was the impeccable traditional Korean clothes they wore. This was not just unusual; it was completely unexpected in what is arguably the US government’s most important banking branch. It is an unspoken cultural rule among minorities that you show your allegiance to the United States by having photos of your family members decked out in all-American attire or even stars and stripes. But not this picture. See, his photo seemed to say, my family is Korean.


We exchanged pleasantries, and he invited me to take a seat in one of the two chairs opposite his desk. The obligatory small talk was made easier by the beckoning family photograph. “Oh, is that your family?” I remember asking. His face lit up. Like a proud father, he gave me the family tour and concluded by saying that his wife homeschooled the kids. We then moved on to the obligatory beat about ourselves, whereupon we bonded over both being minority lawyers. He then explained how he came to be at the New York Fed.


He had been at Citi prior to the financial crisis, where he had been working for collateralized debt obligation compliance, and had joined the New York Fed about three years prior. Collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) are better known as one of the toxic financial instruments that played an important and lethal role in the 2008 financial crisis. And Johnathon was the first one to mention that. “I was one of those guys,” he said, his mood darkening. Shortly after Dudley and Dahlgren had rolled out the new supervision structure in January of 2011, he was assigned to the New York Fed onsite team responsible for supervising Goldman.


The New York Fed had implemented “onsite teams” during the 2008 financial crisis. These were groups of employees expected to do their daily supervision work primarily from the offices of the bank they were assigned to supervise as opposed to sitting at their assigned office space within the New York Fed. Traditionally, these teams consisted of three to four people, which doesn’t sound like a lot of people to supervise the comings and goings of a bank like Citi (with over 150,000 employees worldwide) or Goldman (with over 30,000 employees worldwide). Thus, post–financial crisis and as part of reforming its supervision structure, the New York Fed had been told, in so many words, to “staff up.”


So it was that Johnathon had joined the onsite team assigned to supervise Goldman sometime in the summer of 2011. I was now to take his place.


Johnathon eagerly moved on to supervision matters. He began by going over the topics he was currently working on, starting with an overall review of Goldman’s compliance and legal departments. On its face this made perfect sense and is a great starting point for a new regulator to get to know and understand the supervised bank in question. I remember asking myself why such an overview didn’t already exist for Goldman. I did not have to ask the question—Johnathon volunteered an explanation: the New York Fed had been too busy with the 2008 financial crisis and had not gotten around to doing an overview of Goldman until 2011.


He followed this by mentioning consumer compliance and anti–money laundering. Then he quickly glanced at me. “And conflicts of interest,” he concluded.


That quick glance was telling. Even then I knew conflicts of interest were a particularly sensitive issue at Goldman.


“Conflicts of interest” is an old, well-known issue in banking. If you have a vested interest in the outcome of something, you have a conflict. US banks have divisions dedicated to performing conflicts checks and monitoring both banking divisions and bank employees.


Investigations into the 2008 financial crisis had laid bare widespread malfeasance by both Goldman divisions and employees. Widely covered congressional hearings had been held, the US Senate had issued a published report in April 2011,1 and a former member of Goldman’s board of directors, Rajat Gupta, had been charged in October 2011 with one of the most commonly understood conflicts of interest violations, insider trading.2 Gupta was scheduled to go on trial in April 2012.


There was pressure from both Congress and the press for governmental agencies to do something about it. Within the New York Fed word had come down from the top that the team assigned to Goldman had to investigate this. In practical terms, I assumed that meant Connor had told Johnathon to look into it. Because I was to replace him, it would be my task to carry that hot potato.


Johnathon made it clear that these issues were ongoing priorities to be handled in the context of the new examination procedures the New York Fed was implementing as a result of the change in supervision structure. I casually mentioned that I presumed this would all be made clearer during the New York Fed official training sessions, or “FISG 100” and “FISG 200,” in Fed-speak. The new-employee protocol called for two distinct training courses separated by a few weeks.


These two courses were critically important. Taught by respected senior employees through team-building exercises, new employees were shown how to perform and document “supervision examinations”—Fed-speak for how the New York Fed expected supervision employees to carry out and document their job. The training was where I would learn how to perform bank examinations, interrogate bank employees, prepare letters to request information from banks, inform bank employees of the results of examinations, and store the examination documents and results in the New York Fed databases. Without this training, the new supervisor was not allowed to use the New York Fed electronic database that stores the official bank examination records. In a nutshell, until a new employee took the training, one couldn’t do any real work.


Johnathon paused when I mentioned the supervisory training. This was very strange, as I hadn’t asked a question. “The Goldman supervision team is special,” he then said. “Your training will be different from everyone else’s.”


Though I tried not to show it, this took me by surprise. According to Johnathon, the New York Fed had staffed the Goldman supervision team with its very best people. As a result, my training would be different from the typical training given to my colleagues charged with supervising the other big banks. I would not be attending those training sessions with my new colleagues; instead, I was to follow him for the first month or so and imitate exactly what he did. Only after my training period with him ended and I was integrated into my new job would I be enrolled in the FISG 100 and 200 courses.


In practical terms, my official training would be delayed a few months.


Numerous red flags went up as he spoke. Without the training, I wouldn’t be able to do my job—particularly as you can only check the “track record” for the supervised bank when you have access to the electronic database. A consistent track record of misbehavior could serve as the foundation and justification for enhanced penalties or even suspension of the supervised bank’s operational license.


“Why am I getting different training?” I asked. I thought there must be a clear answer, as this deviation from my peers was so marked. Johnathon did not reply to my question—at all. After another pause, he smiled and assured me that although my training would be different, the “special” training was no big deal. I would still have the opportunity to participate in the additional weekly training meetings with the other bank examiners led by our mutual boss, Connor, and his team leaders, Marylou and Brian.


While listening to Johnathon I wondered where this special training he was speaking of fell under the new supervision structure Connor had alluded to during my interview. This special training was clearly outside the norm—not just internally within the New York Fed but also externally. In the private sector it is imperative to immediately integrate new employees into the culture—the bank’s profitability is at stake. Critical introductory and systems training is not delayed for months.


This course of action eliminated my exposure to the New York Fed way of conceptualizing supervision over banks in general. Following Johnathon around at Goldman instead of spending the first few weeks with my peers at the New York Fed would add another layer of isolation. And attending the additional weekly training meetings meant that my job performance would be monitored equally despite this unequal training.


As a female minority lawyer, I was acutely aware of the need to relentlessly “punch above your weight” just to keep your job. This suppression of critical knowledge was a direct threat to my ability to hold on to my job. I made a mental note to circle back with Connor and Marylou as soon as possible.


In the months to come, my apprehension proved to be right on the money. Regardless of whether Johnathon was a party to this, it became clear that delaying my official training was but one of the many strategies in an unspoken but well-thought-out plan among some New York Fed employees to improve the New York Fed’s rating of Goldman Sachs.
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CHAPTER 2



The Regulator Floor
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“Don’t say anything. Just watch I how do it.”


Johnathon paused but kept walking down the hallway to Michael Silva’s office on the regulator floor of the Goldman Sachs building. I followed.


“And take notes,” he added.


Only a few hours into the first day of my special training, and it was already clear that mine was not an ordinary situation. I had been bombarded by dozens of introductions, most of them perfunctory, all of them confusing. It seemed that confusing the new employee was part of the strategy—or was this just the way they worked? Yet another reason to dig deeper and figure out the real hierarchy, not the theoretical one.


Now we were rushing to meet the two New York Fed relationship management team leaders to discuss Johnathon’s next assignment—which would be my first. The SSO and head of the team was Michael Silva, a tall, dark-haired, light-skinned, blue-eyed man who carried himself like a military officer. He occupied the surprisingly paper-sparse inner office at the apex of the L-shaped floor. His deputy was Michael Koh, a slim Korean American man of average height with a slicked-back haircut frozen in place by wet-look gel in the style of Michael Douglas in the movie Wall Street. His office was located immediately to the left of Michael Silva’s.


Interestingly enough, the meeting was to discuss a new set of issues that had arisen at Goldman regarding conflicts of interest. And Johnathon instructed me to observe and take notes.


The day had started on a different note, as I followed Johnathon from the New York Fed offices to Goldman Sachs and got my first impression of the bank from the outside. I am certain that if this had been my first job in the industry, I would have found it to be an impressive building. But I had spent the better part of the previous ten years working in impressive offices all over the world and had written my Harvard college thesis on how Emperor Charles the V used architecture to express his idea of empire and culture. So it was that my mind immediately focused on the subtleties—the first one being the building’s deliberately dated, unimpressive, anonymous, and antiseptic architecture. Drop it into London’s Canary Wharf, Hong Kong, or the Singapore business districts circa 2005, and it would fail to stand out.


The second most remarkable thing about the building is its location—right in front of the noisy, car-filled, and pedestrian-unfriendly West Side Highway, the only office building in the entire block. There is no retail bank branch to welcome customers, no big, blaring Goldman Sachs sign proclaiming its presence. Instead, the glass-encased lobby is full of guards and turnstiles, seemingly designed to facilitate the entrance and exit of those who belonged and impress and repel those who have no business there. A few pieces of artwork can easily be seen through the enormous glass windows covering the walls. The building’s ground-floor lobby acts as the transparent moat of a modern-day fortress.


The third noteworthy aspect was just how easily one could quickly sort out who was a Goldman employee and who was not, even from the other side of the street. The employees had a Goldman look about them—top-of-the-line suits for the men, top-of-the-line shoes for the women. As they approached the building during the morning rush hour, they consciously presorted themselves into an orderly line designed to maximize building entry speed and efficiency, like so many cans on a conveyor belt. They walked purposefully into the building, entry badges within easy reach, nary a stumble or a sideways glance at the guards, as they continued their march toward the back of the lobby.


As Johnathon and I walked up to the building and into this lobby on that chilly November morning, we deviated from the flow of Goldman employees pouring into the building and headed straight for the guards to inquire about my entrance badge. A bank-entry badge is no trivial matter; it gives the bearer access to areas full of confidential information. Any bank worth its salt will carefully follow identification protocols when issuing such a pass. Johnathon informed me on my way there that prior to our visit he had provided Goldman with the required paperwork. He expected the badge to be ready for pickup when we arrived. But it wasn’t, so we had to wait for the lobby personnel to prepare it.


Johnathon was annoyed and spent the time voicing his displeasure. He had already spent quite a few months supervising Goldman and saw the firm’s failure to have the badge ready on time as a deliberate delay tactic. He made it clear to me that he had no patience for their insincere excuses and incompetence. I listened to him silently: his seemed a half-hearted show for one, more sound than fury.


I followed Johnathon toward the back of the lobby and into one of the elevators, watching and mimicking the behavior of those in front of me. Each elevator in turn filled up back to front, side to side, with military precision. Employees were spaced the precise minimum number of inches necessary to avoid touching each other—a veritable human canning operation. Once the elevator was full, it automatically closed and ushered everyone up to the real Goldman lobby—the one deliberately hidden from view.


The Goldman sky lobby had at its center a takeout coffee shop with espresso machines and displays full of breakfast pastries and other snack items. About fifteen people stood patiently in line waiting to order. To one side was the entrance to the large cafeteria. To the other side a series of stairs led to conference rooms. We hurriedly walked past the cafeteria and headed to the end of the center hallway and into the second elevator bank. Johnathon selected our floor number on a separate panel located in front of this elevator bank. The panel screen flashed, assigning us to an elevator. We proceeded to make our way into the designated elevator and on to the New York Fed’s office inside the Goldman building—our “home away from home.”


The L-shaped office layout of the regulator floor mimicked the typical trading floor set-up in vogue at that time. The two outer walls—one facing the Hudson River and midtown, the other Lower Manhattan—were floor-to-ceiling glass. Automatically programmed curtains would rise or fall following the sun’s trajectory, working together with the air conditioning system to regulate the office temperature. Uninterrupted rows of brown tables began next to the windows and worked their way toward the middle of the office. An open hallway lay between the rows of tables and the offices and conference rooms. Kitted out with brown furniture matching the desks lined up outside, each office was separated from the other by an interior floor-to-ceiling white partition wall. The biggest conference room was situated at the apex of the L, a rectangular fishbowl encased in glass walls and windows.


Upon arrival Johnathon began casually introducing me to everyone who crossed our path, rattling out their names and roles, rarely taking a moment to help me connect the dots or make the necessary associations. I remember politely shaking many hands and politely nodding in recognition several times as the names, titles, departments, and institutions flew by—business line specialists, credit risk, asset management relationship managers, FDIC (Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation), NYSDFS (New York State Department of Financial Services)… the list went on and on.


“Come,” Johnathon said, and without offering much background information, he led me down the hall to meet the head of the relationship management team and his deputy. The one thing I already knew about Michael Silva and Michael Koh was that Johnathon and I did not report directly to either of these men. In fact, according to Connor and Marylou, that was the whole point of the new supervisory structure: from now on I would be the one regulating Goldman, and Silva’s team was supposed to provide me with their institutional knowledge of the bank to help me along the way.


So I was a bit confused when, as we were about to go into the meeting, Johnathon told me that Michael Silva had requested Johnathon do something, so Johnathon had set up this meeting to confirm what the marching orders were. “This isn’t necessary,” Johnathon tried to clarify. “But it’s culturally expected and political prudent.”


After the obligatory lengthy introductions, we sat down in Michael Silva’s office. Johnathon carefully placed the printed emails he had received from Silva earlier in the week on the table. I found that to be a strange tactic at the time: Was he intimating that this was evidence? Or maybe he was trying to make the meeting seem about something else? Johnathon finally got to the point: he had received Silva’s request to look into three Goldman deals that were written up in the press recently. He wanted to confirm that Silva was asking him to set up a meeting with the Goldman legal team to investigate these transactions.


Silva didn’t miss a beat. He immediately rattled off the names of the transactions Goldman had recently worked on that had been adversely reported in the newspapers as allegedly being riddled with conflicts issues: Solyndra, El Paso, and Capmark. Because the press had made such a stink, Silva continued, Johnathon should set up a meeting with the Goldman legal and regulatory counsel to ask about these transactions and possible conflicts issues. He should also find out more about their conflicts-of-interest program: check if they have a policy, who runs the program, and so on.


I kept taking notes but was stunned: Wasn’t that what our work was about? Why was Silva ordering Johnathon to do his job? Why was Johnathon confirming that this is what Silva wanted? I made a mental note to read up on the transactions as soon as I could. I immediately knew I needed to prioritize figuring out more about this strange dynamic between the relationship management leader and us. After all, in a month’s time Johnathon wouldn’t be there—it would be just me.


Neither Silva nor Koh committed to attending the meeting with Goldman; instead, they asked Johnathon to invite some of the other relationship managers who reported to them. A few names were tossed out. Names of people I did not yet know. Johnathon acquiesced. He thanked them both for their time, and we headed to my future desk.


Located right by the window, the desk faced out to the West Side Highway. The Lower Manhattan skyscrapers could be seen through the window on the left-hand side. The desk had a landline, a laptop docking station, and a large desktop computer, the back of which almost kissed a nearly identical screen facing the desk directly on the other side of mine. Johnathon glanced at that empty desk on the other side and looked around, as if trying to locate the person it belonged to. Not finding who he was looking for, he turned to me and walked me through the desk equipment. He explained the laptop docking station was for the New York Fed–issued laptop I would be receiving. He pointed out that the internet line dedicated to the laptop was supposed to be encrypted: Goldman could not monitor any work done through the laptop.


Goldman owned the phone and the desktop computer. Johnathon smiled as he explained how they worked. The phones were configured to function just as they did for all other Goldman employees. A unique number was assigned, with external and internal shortcut dialing capabilities. It even received the voicemails periodically left by Goldman senior management to all its employees. The desktop was likewise configured as if for a Goldman employee. Regulators had a Goldman email and access to certain sections of the Goldman intranet. It was even possible to surf the web. I smiled back, signaling I understood.


As an experienced attorney, I was well aware of the extensive surveillance systems big banks had in place. Such measures had increased exponentially over the years as technology advanced. By 2011 the big, complex banks I had worked for were not just keeping logs of every telephone number you dialed on their phones; they were also recording every single computer keystroke, email, voicemail, telephone conversation, and swipe of your entry badge. The ones who took surveillance most seriously had cameras everywhere.


Special teams of ex-CIA and -FBI agents worked in dedicated units performing surveillance and monitoring tasks as needed. An ordinary day might be filled with background checks and fingerprint scans of incoming employees. Occasionally they would perform special investigations and enhanced surveillance of suspicious or potentially troublesome customers and employees, sharing the results with the legal department or law enforcement as needed. Given the trillions of dollars at stake and the ease with which a rogue employee could deploy numerous tactics against the bank and its customers from within, these measures made good business sense. As I thought back to some of my past experiences at other banks, I wondered where Goldman’s surveillance fell on that spectrum.


Johnathon focused next on the desk drawers. One by one he opened them, walking me through his filing system and various work products. I listened and occasionally glanced around. Silva’s relationship managers went from discreetly glancing our way to exchanging glances with each other while going about their business. It was clear they could hear every word we were saying and were closely following our conversation. Johnathon inevitably noticed too—it was impossible not to. The open space functioned like a stage. He wrapped up the desk tour. Come, he signaled. We made our way a couple of rows down toward the relationship managers.


He nodded to a few people as we walked by and stopped in front of a woman with shoulder-length black hair parted to one side and a ponytail way too tight to be either comfortable or fashionable. Her light olive skin contrasted with her brown eyes, which were framed by dense, dark eyebrows.


Johnathon stole a quick glance at me and addressed her by name, Donna (I would later learn her full name is Donna Bianca). Turning his attention to her, he inquired about the status of some remediation issue having to do with Litton. Though I hadn’t been introduced to the details of the Litton situation, the name rung a bell. I made a note and noticed that Donna chose not to answer Johnathon. I thought that was bizarre.


Instead, Donna turned her back on us and focused on filing something in a desk drawer. I looked at Johnathon, who stood there, neither defeated nor enraged. Just… stood there. Perhaps this was one of the reasons he was relieved I was replacing him.


When she finally answered—still without looking at us—Johnathon glanced at me again, arching his eyebrows as an unspoken warning: Watch out for this one. He then reminded her that as the legal and compliance supervisor, he had an obligation to follow up with her on the matter. She was no longer in charge of supervising Goldman from a legal and compliance risk angle; she was now a New York Fed relationship manager. Donna refused to continue the conversation. If it hadn’t been clear by then, it was obvious now: the way the new supervisory structure had been implemented had driven a wedge between relationship managers and risk specialists. It was also causing tensions between the old guard and the new employees. Lines were blurry, it seemed. And the old guard was not going anywhere anytime soon.


As if in response to this interaction, Johnathon took me to meet Donna’s boss, Mila Mirka. That made sense. Because Donna was not forthcoming with the information he needed, Johnathon was going to ask her supervisor. When we reached Mila’s office it seemed like she was not expecting us. We walked in and she looked at us in silence. What was it about that look? I wondered. Was it exasperation? Or was it fear?


Johnathon quickly introduced me to Mila. She was the New York Fed relationship manager and business line specialist focused on Goldman’s Investment Management and Asset Management divisions. As Donna’s superior, she reported to Michael Silva and Michael Koh. As a way of saying hello, she looked at me and attempted a smile. Johnathon then lobbed the same question he had asked Donna, and her smile disappeared. She looked away from me and straight at him. She responded with the same hostility and dismissiveness as Donna had.


And then she told Johnathon that he should discuss the matter with Donna—not with her. But you’re the boss! I thought, hoping my face didn’t betray my surprise. However, it seemed that was that: Johnathon withdrew and signaled for me to follow him back to our desk. Once we were out of Mila’s sight he looked at me and said, “We will discuss those two later.”


My intuition signaled this wasn’t going to be a matter of one or two individuals; the problem could be more spread out, even systemic.


We headed back to my future desk. Upon arrival we found a woman in her early thirties right in front of her desktop computer, located immediately opposite my future desk, pretending to shuffle some documents. Was this her desk? Was she waiting for us? She stopped fiddling with the papers and looked straight at Johnathon, as if to say, “Are you going to introduce me?” He obliged, introducing Lily Rose as a New York Fed relationship manager and corporate functions specialist—and part of Silva’s team. She had joined the New York Fed in 2006. That was, indeed, her desk. She threw her head back and cocked it to one side, fixing her lightly freckled face and brown eyes on mine. “Hi!” she exclaimed in that high-pitched, insincere way a “cool” high school girl greets someone she’d rather not be seen dead with. Her body language made it clear that shaking hands would not be welcomed.


Lily turned to Johnathon and casually asked about our meeting with “the two Mikes”—Silva and Koh. He filled her in on what had transpired. She politely listened, looking like she already knew. She ended the conversation abruptly by signaling she was expecting an invite from Johnathon to the conflicts-of-interest meeting her boss had asked us to set up with Goldman. It was clear she did not like him. Johnathon sat down, and after making sure she was not looking our way, he said, “We’ll talk about her later.”
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THE FOLLOWING DAY Johnathon did provide some background information on these women—though not nearly enough. According to him, Lily, Mila, and Donna were holdovers from the New York Fed team assigned to supervise Goldman during the 2008 financial crisis. None of them were attorneys. They shared the responsibilities for consumer, legal, and compliance supervision just before Johnathon took over the job in mid-2011.


That meant they used to do the job I was hired to do now.


In the reshuffle they had remained assigned to Goldman as relationship managers. Lily had become a corporate functions specialist reporting to the two Mikes; Donna and Mila became business line specialists, with Donna reporting to Mila and both in turn reporting to the two Mikes. They had, for reasons Johnathon did not elaborate, failed to get around to transitioning certain issues they had been working on to him, including key findings related to the Litton situation. Even though they had been told to. He did not elaborate on specifics but made it clear this made it difficult for him to do his job.


He closed by pointing out that he disliked their “sharp elbows.” I had never heard that expression and asked him what it meant. He smiled and did not answer.


Johnathon then turned his attention to introducing me to the other New York Fed risk specialists also assigned to work from the regulator floor. He explained how risk supervision had been split into five components: legal and compliance risk, market risk, financial risk, operational risk, and audit risk. I was to take his place as the legal and compliance risk supervision specialist.


He signaled that from a supervision standpoint, these other risk-supervision individuals were not relationship managers. They each shouldered similar responsibilities to mine, albeit in their respective areas. Like me, they had their respective risk function bosses they reported to at the New York Fed. Johnathon kept glancing around the regulator’s floor. Whenever he noticed that one of the risk individuals seemed open, we would get up and walk over for introductions.


The man in charge of market risk sat in a desk relatively close to the door. Levi Geller’s portly figure was camouflaged by his deliberately oversized, ill-fitting suit. His round open face sat beneath a mop of curly, reddish-brown hair. Sitting on the other side of the L-shaped office was Evan Brown. He was in charge of audit risk. His perfectly cut and combed-straight mousy-brown hair, parted to one side, complemented his well-fitting office attire. He welcomed me with impeccable manners. The woman in charge of operational risk was my desk neighbor, Elizabeth Alfonsina, who had a rail-thin frame and bright blue eyes framed by abundant, long, frizzy hair. Johnathon did not motion for me to watch out for any of them.


Back at my future desk I looked around the open floor, wondering why the risk specialist functions were not sitting together; instead, they were mostly spread out—with the exception of Elizabeth and me. We sat next to each other, in direct line of sight of the two Mikes. Like all the other risk specialists, we were surrounded by relationship managers and corporate functions specialists. Suddenly the constant watching I had noticed from seemingly random people since the moment I arrived made sense: the relationship managers were watching every move the risk specialists made. Sitting us apart meant it would be harder for us to “team up” or “gang up” against the relationship managers without them noticing. The risk specialists were like lab rats under really bright lights, being studied, poked at, pushed, and prodded.


Back at the New York Fed Johnathon and I met with our bosses Marylou and Connor to debrief them on what had transpired during our meeting with the two Mikes. This wasn’t just politically prudent; whether we would go ahead with scheduling the meeting with Goldman to discuss conflicts really was up to those two. Both agreed and gave us the green light to proceed.


As Johnathon and I parted ways, I almost discussed with him what I thought was an interesting moment with my New York Fed peers, but I thought it prudent not to share my personal insights this early in my tenure. As is customary in the industry, I was on probation for the first six months. It was very important that I, as a new employee, keep my mouth shut as much as possible until I had the opportunity to figure out who was who and what was really going on. Still, it was a telling scene.


Earlier that day I was on the Goldman regulator floor when the Occupy Wall Street protesters’ chants started coming through the windows. At first the regulators kept working at their desks, silently looking at each other, not knowing how to react. The protests continued. Slowly a chill emerged in the air. Fear began to creep into their faces. Still, no one dared move closer to the windows. As the noise grew louder and a bullhorn started blaring, I stood up from my desk. One of the other risk regulators sitting close to the exit door stood up as well and drew closer to the window. As if on cue, one by one the rest quickly followed.


I looked out the window and down at the protesters. The glare of the sun made it a bit of a challenge, but you could see and hear them below. They were surrounded by police officers.


A low murmur spread across the floor. While looking out I could hear snippets of conversations around me. One of the regulators on my right asked, “What are they saying?” I looked to see who it was. I saw smiling faces—some wry, some condescending. None remorseful or sympathetic.


Their reactions surprised and shocked me. The protesters were part of the taxpayer base paying for our work. They had been protesting in downtown Manhattan since September 17 against, among other grievances, New York Fed employees’ failure to properly police big banks like Goldman. They were there now to protest Goldman’s behavior—the behavior the New York Fed employees standing next to me arguably should have been policing and addressing before the 2008 financial crisis. I knew I was standing next to a number of people whose failure to do their job contributed to the crisis—in fact, I had been brought in to address just that issue. I hadn’t been there long, but I had gleaned enough to know that the protesters had a point. I expected to see shame, silence—maybe even remorse.


Suddenly, on my left I heard a laugh. I turned. Lily and a couple of others were looking down and laughing at the protesters. She looked my way, and I looked sharply back at her. I was not laughing. Her face froze.


Michael Koh’s arrival put an end to all conversation and window gazing. In the most condescending tone he could muster he made it clear there was no need for us to concern ourselves with the protesters. Management did not care what they thought. They would be gone soon enough. Everyone made their way back to their desks.


Occupy Wall Street continued to protest throughout my tenure at the New York Fed. Sometimes in front of the New York Fed, sometimes in front of Goldman, oftentimes elsewhere in Manhattan. Yet at the Goldman regulator floor not another word was said about the protesters or their grievances. It was as if they did not exist.
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CHAPTER 3



We Want Them to Feel Pain, but Not Too Much
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“How do you like your new job?”


His piercing blue eyes not leaving the screen, Hendrik quietly listened as his family asked me this question. Hendrik and I had settled into our couch to chat with them in the Netherlands. I expected the question, but given what I had already experienced at the New York Fed, it was not one I wanted to answer. I wanted to know how the family was doing. And Hendrik was home.


Hendrik and I had met in 2009, at the New York Philharmonic’s summer concert in Central Park. Over the following two years we moved into a tiny rental apartment together and built the anonymous, quiet life we had both dreamed about. Although we hadn’t yet made specific plans, “When is the wedding?” was the most common question we got from everyone. But now that I had this new job, a wedding was the furthest thing from my mind. From the beginning Hendrik had advised me not to take the job, even though he fully supported the decision once I made it. And I was beginning to think he was right.


As if on cue, Hendrik wrapped his arm around me and repeated the question, this time adding a mischievous “or is it too early to tell?” He smiled. I laughed. Thousands of miles away—and oh, in such a different world—Hendrik’s family patiently allowed us our moment. They knew, as I knew, as my friends knew, that we loved each other fiercely and for all the right reasons. We had already been through much, and we would go through much more, but we had and would continue to go through it together.


I turned to look at the screen again and addressed his family. “Yes, it’s too early to tell. And a bit complicated.”


“Interesting. How so?”


Not only was I a lawyer but, in late mornings like these, at home chatting with Hendrik’s family, I was surrounded by them too. Hendrik, a Dutch lawyer fluent in four languages, was blessed with an elegant legal mind worthy of envy. This, I came to discover, was no accident. Prominent lawyers, judges, and legal scholars populated both sides of the family tree going back over five centuries. His grandfather had founded what became the Netherlands’ largest and most prestigious law firm. His portrait prominently hangs on the walls in one of their oldest law schools, where for years he had taught law with such brilliance that he was still, to this day, reverently referred to by those familiar with his work as the Great One.


They had always impressed me as a serious family with a strong moral compass and a profound awareness of the bigger picture. The Great One hadn’t let such minor inconveniences as starvation and a weak heart get in the way of habitually hiding a Jewish child from the Nazis inside his home during World War II. The other side of the family had spent the war starving in concentration camps. Both sides of the family were deeply grateful to the United States and their soldiers for their sacrifices in World War II. When Hendrik’s legal career had provided him with the opportunity to work in the United States, the family encouraged him to take it. When he had introduced me to his family, they welcomed me with open arms.


They were delighted to find out I was an avid history buff. One of the first things we did with his family was walk around the vicinity of the town they lived in to see the German installations and the beach where the Allies arrived to free them from starvation.


When any topic of conversation came up, especially one as legally interesting and important as the New York Fed, it was unlikely to be casually dismissed. This was a family who was well aware of the role the US Federal Reserve played in the global financial system. Living in Europe gave them a perspective that factored in the US financial system’s impact on European banks, the Euro, their savings, their pensions, their jobs, and their ability to pay their bills.


Of course they were going to ask. And of course they were genuinely interested. But where to begin? And at that time, what exactly did I know for sure? A few days earlier, for instance, in what should have been a standard lunch to welcome the new hires, yet another alarming situation had arisen. As Hendrik continued to chat with his father, my mind returned to that lunch.


In most banks the welcome lunch is usually an opportunity for management to communicate priorities, grease the wheels, and establish the foundations for a pleasant working relationship with the new hires. For a new employee the smart thing to do is to display good manners and an open, receptive disposition to the information being conveyed to you. And keep your mouth shut.


Who sits where is the first part of the dance. As other people angled for position in the sumptuously decorated formal New York Fed dining room, I somehow ended up sitting in between Connor and Michael Silva.


As we ate, senior management dictated the flow of conversation. They relayed gossip about the leadership at all the big banks and carefully scrutinized our reactions, which was par for the course. Surprisingly, they did not mention Goldman. Not even once.


I filed that mental note away and focused my attention on the gossip at hand. And then it happened. Connor turned to me and casually asked a direct and charged question: “Are you surprised by how much we don’t know about what’s going on inside these big banks?”


Are you kidding me? I thought to myself, knowing there was no good answer I could give him. I had been at the New York Fed just a few days—not nearly enough time to conclude whether they knew enough about what was going on at the big banks. If I were to assert the opposite—that I was surprised by how much more they knew than appeared to be the case from the outside—that would also be premature.


“I don’t know yet,” I said and took a sip of the coffee the uniformed staff had just brought to the table. It was bitter—low on taste, high on caffeine—but it bought me some time. It seemed to me that the Fed may not be great at regulating banks, but they were certainly good at examining their employees. This was an opportunity to step up or let it go. In that half-second I thought of Hendrik and his sage lawyerly advice, how he would suggest I let this one go. I heard him and felt him, and I missed him a little. But then I decided to go against his advice, step up, and answer Connor’s question with a question of my own: “To your point, how do you expect us to supervise Goldman?”


Connor pushed back his chair, leaned toward me, and looked me straight in the eye.


“We want them to feel pain, but not too much,” he answered.


That night I lay awake in bed, long after Hendrik had a good laugh mocking Connor’s take on supervising Goldman. I pondered how a Harvard Law School–trained lawyer who received a rather generous taxpayer-paid salary to ostensibly advocate for compliance with the rule of law came to conceptualize legal and compliance supervision over Goldman Sachs as a matter of inflicting “pain” on the bank. This was not an insignificant matter; it was, after all, my job to translate his instructions into action.


I was quite familiar with how different banks approached the topic of legal and compliance practices. Some banks took a “pay one fine, then comply” attitude. This translated into zero compliance with the law until a regulator fined the bank. At that point the bank went all-out with compliance—that is, they would implement all required compliance programs and jump through any and all hoops in order to never pay another fine. Others took the opposite approach—“comply, pay no fine.” In practical terms, they went all-out with compliance upfront, deeming payment of any regulatory fine as an embarrassment to management and a waste of shareholder money.


Most big banks I had worked for fell somewhere in between. Their bread-and-butter products were backed by pretty solid legal and compliance programs. Newer products were often plagued by growing pains, which included incomplete or leaky legal and compliance programs. Stretch products and products that came into the bank through acquisitions were the most likely to be in suspect shape. The older the bank and the greater the range of products, the likelier it was that their legal and compliance programs were sophisticated and developed enough and their management and sales people sufficiently well trained to fill any gaps created by either stretch or new products relatively quickly.


Irrespective of the philosophical approach, establishing the procedures employees needed to follow to comply with the rule of law so that, for example, a check or a stock trade would be cleared according to a clear set of rules had nothing to do with inflicting pain. Instead, it had everything to do with upholding the credibility of the US dollar and the US banking system as legitimate, reliable vehicles for the payment of debts and the settlement of trades.


Long before I arrived at the New York Fed, Goldman’s reputation in legal and compliance circles was not good. Their approach to legal and compliance practices was unlike most other banks. This was partly because Goldman was a private company for many decades and, as such, was not subject to the same standards that apply to a publicly traded bank holding company. In fact, Goldman only became a traditional bank holding company during the 2008 financial crisis. If the word on the street was right, my job would be incredibly easy. Finding issues with their legal and compliance programs would be like shooting fish in a barrel.


The real question was: How was I to process all this while applying US rule-of-law principles? Pain was, at best, a rather suspect guiding principle. But that was Connor’s answer. Besides figuring out how to best address the tension in the new business model between the new risk specialists and the veteran relationship managers, it now seemed I would also need to work hard to extract clarity from management.
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THE NEXT DAY, when I arrived at the New York Fed, the office was abuzz. I made my way through the floor, found Johnathon, and asked him what was happening. It turned out that our direct boss, Marylou, had just announced her retirement, effective in a few weeks. As we gathered in her office she first assured us that this was happening a year ahead of schedule. She recounted—a little too joyfully—a story about how she had unexpectedly received an offer for her New York apartment that was “just too good to refuse.” She then decided to put in for retirement as soon as possible and call it a day.


It was clear that Connor did not want her to leave in this way or this soon. His serious and disappointed face spoke for itself. A replacement would be named soon, he assured us. Our work as risk examiners was to continue as scheduled. I remember spending quite a bit of time discussing with Johnathon and others who exactly would be replacing Marylou. He tried to tell me not to worry. It did not help.


In truth, nothing but knowing exactly who would replace her would have helped. But Johnathon had no way of knowing.


Back at the Goldman regulator floor I learned that the New York Fed regulators shared our busy office space with two other regulatory agencies, also charged with supervising Goldman: the New York State Department of Financial Services (NYSDFS)1 and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC).2


Physically, there was no clear separation between the employees of the three agencies on the Goldman regulator floor. The open layout, glass walls, and rows of tables with work stations in close proximity to each other ensured a complete lack of privacy. As we made our way through the floor Johnathon pointed out that the employees of the three agencies were more or less contiguously located. The New York Fed occupied the side of the floor facing Lower Manhattan. The NYSDFS faced the Hudson and midtown Manhattan. The FDIC occupied the space in between.


Johnathon introduced me to various FDIC and NYSDFS employees, mostly men. All were uniformly affable. Only one person stood out—a young woman by the name of Analisa Rodríguez. Although her medium-length, curly brown hair and office suit were unremarkable, how she carried herself was not. This, I remember thinking, was a woman who knew who she was. Her brown eyes radiated both intelligence and a deep sense of peace. She smiled openly and comfortably as Johnathon introduced her. He made it clear that she had my equivalent job at the NYSDFS, supervising and examining Goldman for compliance with New York State banking laws, rules, and regulations. She was an experienced examiner—over ten years of experience—and I was to work with her on all matters.


As we walked back to his desk, Johnathon continued to outline the dynamics between the regulatory agencies. Although Analisa shared my scope of responsibility for New York State, to his knowledge no one did at the FDIC. Although all three agencies were supposed to work together as much as possible on all subjects, this was by no means the case for all matters. There would be times when the New York Fed would work on a matter and not bring in the other agencies. There were no clear rules dictating when and why that would occur.


Having said that, he saw no reason—and great benefit—in me working all matters together with Analisa. He did not say the words “for your protection” as such, but his insistence made his meaning clear.


Johnathon then directed me into one of the conference rooms. As he dialed us into a meeting, Johnathon explained he wanted me to have a better perspective on the challenges we were facing. He wanted me to have a direct connection with the Federal Reserve Board in Washington, DC. I was taken aback: I had no idea I was to have direct contact with the Board. Johnathon explained that our direct line to the Board was Bob Sarvis. He did not expand on where Bob fell within the Federal Reserve Board organizational structure but did make it clear that I was to meet at least once a month with him and assist him as required. Before I could ask any questions, Bob was on the line.


Bob—or Telephone Bob, as I came to think of him, for we never met in person—wasted little time with pleasantries. Unlike everyone else I had met so far at the New York Fed, who somehow managed to make a meeting out of an introduction, Bob jumped straight into the call, the way a veteran executive at a big bank with too much work and not enough time would.


He started by explaining he was there to ensure consumer compliance was “properly integrated and monitored in the context of the onsite teams.” What he meant, in other words, was that his job at the Board was to make sure the New York Fed employees supervising Goldman’s compliance with consumer banking laws were not forgetting to check if Goldman was complying with the laws that applied to consumer banking products. If Goldman was not complying, his job was to track our progress in making sure we pushed Goldman to fix the issues we found.


Encouraged by Johnathon, Bob provided some context to his portfolio. He was in charge not just of Goldman but also of twelve or so other banks. These included the biggest too-big-to-fail banks in the country (New York Fed employees used the Fed-speak sanitizing term “systemically important financial institutions”—SIFI for short—to refer to these banks).


He insisted, however, that he intended to “focus on Goldman” during the coming year.


Bob skipped ahead to his next point: what the division of work would look like once Johnathon had transitioned out. Johnathon answered that easily: Terry Stewart (whom I had yet to meet) and I were to cover all topics. This seemed to suffice.


One final thing remained on Bob’s list—following up on the status of the consent order. For my benefit, Bob helpfully added that, for Goldman, that meant Litton. Goldman had acquired Litton, a mortgage servicing company, in 2007, allegedly in the hopes of getting its hands on subprime mortgage market information that would give its traders an edge. In May 2011 the New York Fed had received a whistleblower letter from the Financial Times written by a Litton employee claiming Litton used various internal procedures—which came to be known as “robosigning”—to wrongfully deny mortgage modifications to distressed homeowners.3


With the media hot on the story, the New York Fed conducted an investigation, during which it found a lot of issues at Litton.


In September of 2011, less than two months before our call with Telephone Bob, the New York Fed and Goldman had agreed to a consent order,4 as a result of which Goldman would hire a consultant to fix the issues as well as agreed to reimburse injured customers and pay regulatory fines in exchange for avoiding further legal action against them. Goldman also reached a separate agreement with the NYSDFS over the same issues, which allowed Goldman to still sell the unit, even if they remained on the hook for fixing the issues as per the consent order. Goldman’s shares had tumbled 3.5 percent when the agreement with the New York Fed was announced.5


Bob wanted an update on Goldman’s progress. Johnathon’s expression darkened as he let Bob know he had no additional information. Was this the information he was trying to get from Donna and Mila? If so, why were they obstructing his work? And just as importantly: Were these relationship managers keeping the Federal Reserve Board in the dark on purpose?


As my head was spinning with these kinds of questions, Bob closed the meeting by agreeing on a monthly meeting schedule and suggesting that the next meeting include Donna, Mila, Lily, and Terry. The stated purpose was to transition Donna, Mila, and Lily out of covering consumer-related matters currently overseen by Bob, thereby leaving Terry and me to cover them going forward.


I listened silently, trying to work out why Johnathon had not been covering them so far. Or had he? Again, I couldn’t tell.


After we signed off the call, I intended to pepper Johnathon with questions. Time was short, though, as he had other matters to attend to before our next meetings. I made a judgment call and asked only about the consent order.


“Who knows what was going on with Litton’s consent order?” I asked. Johnathon’s face darkened further. Sitting back, he fixed his eyes on me.


“Mila and Donna,” he answered.
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